# Potential Impacts of increasing floodlight level at Harold Rossiter Park and Kensington Bushland – Preliminary

Literature Review.

A report for the Town of Victoria Park – Perth, Western Australia

Jill M. Shephard

Harry Butler Institute, Murdoch University

LANDAL TO THERE



Harold Rossiter Park

#### **Suggested Citation:**

Shephard, J.M. 2022. Potential Impacts of increasing floodlight level at Harold Rossiter Park and Kensington Bushland – Preliminary Literature Review. Report for The Town of Victoria Park, Western Australia.

June 2022

Cover photograph by Jill Shephard



Red-tailed Black Cockatoos flying over Harold Rossiter Park (Image: Keith Lightbody)

# Contents

Facts and Definitions	1
Additional Resources	2
Specifications of Lights in this project	2
How to use this report	3
Terms of reference for the literature review	4
Aims of the Literature Review	5
Method	5
Literature Review	5
Results and Discussion	6
Black cockatoos at Harold Rossiter Park and Kensington Bushland	9
Generalised impact of ALAN on black cockatoo species	10
Mitigation measures to retain roost quality	10
References	11
Appendices	13
Appendix 1	13
Appendix 2	14
Appendix 3	20

# **Facts and Definitions**

ALAN	Artificial Light at Night
Ecologically relevant light intensity	>1.5 lux (Moaraf 2021)
Moonlight	0.05 – 0.2 lux (Kyba et al. 2017)
LED Lights	Light emitting diodes
LED invented	1962
First use of LEDs in floodlighting	1990's onwards
CRI	Colour rendering index - the higher the value, the more realistic the colour reproduction. Measured between 0 - 100 (this is the equivalent spectrum to daylight).
CIE RA	Index used on commercial products - equivalent to CRI. Highest possible value is 100 (this is the equivalent spectrum to daylight).
CAM	Colour Appearance Model - Another standard used for colour rendering ability
IES TM-30	New standard replacing CIE (since 2021) - The colour rendering of a light source refers to its ability to reveal the colours of various objects faithfully in comparison with an ideal or natural light source.
Colour Temperature	Characteristic of visible light when compared to a 'black body' emitter
ССТ	Correlated Colour Temperature - for lights that cannot be compared against a 'black body' emitter - fluorescent and LED lights fit this category. i.e., Light is emitted through a mechanism other than thermal radiation.
ССТ ~ 2000К	warm light (red, yellow light). K = kelvin (base SI unit for temperature).
ССТ 5000К+	cool light (typically white to light blue)
Foot-Candle	Describes the amount of light reaching a specified surface area as opposed to the total amount of light coming from a source (luminous flux).
Foot-Candle - measurement (imperial system)	Foot-candles are measured in lumens per square foot as opposed to simply lumens (as in the case of luminous flux). It therefor accounts for the amount of light actually illuminating the desired surface area. Also accounts for the amount of light lost due to inefficiencies in absorption, reflection, and dissipation. <b>Illumination is the most important measurement.</b> (1 foot-candle = $10.76$ lux)
Lumen (metric system)	Equals 1 foot-candle/foot^2 - the amount of light that would shine through 1 square foot $(0.09m)$ .
Lumen (metric system)	Measurement per square metre - a lux. Therefor 1 Lumen illuminates $1m^2$
1 Lux	1 lumen per m <sup>2</sup>
IP65	Weatherproof Rating. IP65 = Water Resistant but not waterproof.
Luminous Flux	A measure of light output but not of how focussed the light is. Without appropriate focus the light is wasted and therefore inefficient.

# **Additional Resources**

Interpreting light Quality	$https://www.stouchlighting.com/blog/led_light\_cri\_cct\_foot-candle$
Foot-candles versus lumens versus lux	https://www.standardpro.com/how-to-measure- light/#:~:text=A%20foot%2Dcandle%20equals%20one,10%20lux%2 0or%2010.57%20lux.
CRI versus Colour Temperature	https://www.ledsmaster.com/color-rendering-index-cri-versus-color- temperature-what-are-they.html

# **Specifications of Lights in this project**

LED Light Type	Specification	Description	Document
Community Floodlight	4000K 100W IP65 1100 lumen	Considered as 'Neutral White' - produces a bright white or cool toned kind of colour which gives a warm effect as well as bright enough to work beneath. Illumination at ground level: not clear in specs	(2824 E5.pdf)
Sports Floodlight	5700K 600W 77145 lumen	Bright white with a blue tint. Cold colour. Illumination at ground level: av.120 lux (range: 76-174 lux)	(2824 E5.pdf)



# How to use this report

This report is a preliminary literature review and summarises the main findings relevant to the potential impact of a floodlight upgrade surrounding the soccer fields at Harold Rossiter Park on wildlife, particularly black cockatoos.

The written report is presented with a searchable spreadsheet that can be interrogated for detailed study findings and species and taxon-specific impacts of artificial lighting on wildlife. Each row of the spreadsheet is linked to the original published study using a reference number and the accompanying studies are collated as a pdf library supplied with this report and searchable by reference number.

## Terms of reference for the literature review

The Town of Victoria Park (ToVP) plans to upgrade flood lighting to the soccer fields at Harold Rossiter Park which are adjacent to Kensington Bushland. The soccer fields and associated cricket field at Harold Rossiter Park are fringed with established trees (Fig. 1). Concern has been expressed in the local community about the impact increased floodlighting may have on wildlife and specifically on Carnaby's cockatoos (*Zanda latirostris*) and forest red-tailed black cockatoos (*Calyptorhynchus banksii naso*) that roost or forage in the park and the surrounding area. In addition, the ToVP has installed several bird watering stations that have been customised to accommodate cockatoos perching to drink at the site and these are known to be well used (Fig. 1f).





Fig. 1 a-e) Large established trees fringing either soccer field 1 or 2 at Harold Rossiter Park; f) Bird watering station at the park; g) Soccer field 1 in the foreground with Kensington Bushland behind.

# Aims of the Literature Review

- Investigate and summarise published impacts that artificial light and specifically ALAN (Artificial Light At Night) has on terrestrial wildlife.
- Investigate and summarise mitigation measures suggested in the literature.
- Provide comment on potential impacts of ALAN to black cockatoo species and appropriate mitigation measures.

# Method

#### Literature Review

A systematic key word search was used in the electronic database Web of Science Core Collection (WOS) from 2010 to the present (April 2022). Traditionally this would be done across multiple databases but the short turn-around in this study precluded this. Based on preliminary searches the WOS results were refined by the following categories: Ecology, Environmental Science, Biodiversity Conservation, Ornithology, Zoology, Urban Studies, and Regional Urban Planning. The following keywords were used either singularly or together: bird(s), wildlife, impact(s), artificial light, sports ground, safety benefits, stadium lighting, light pollution, mitigation, moonlight, ALAN (artificial light at night). The broadest search 'ALAN and mitigation' produced 789 hits. This was refined using the above key terms and the resulting studies (N = 83) added to a spreadsheet summarising the findings by: animal, habitat, lighting type, secondary stressor (e.g. road traffic), light application (e.g. street light), ecological application (e.g. ALAN), study type (e.g. experimental, review and so on), whether or not the study used multiple light intensities, Country | Region, overall impact, whether mitigation measures were discussed, whether the study was linked to policy statements including suggested policy requirements or revisions of existing policy. The abstract of each paper and the authors keywords are also included. Papers restricted to marine environments were excluded. Two review studies cited in papers from the main search were added to the spreadsheet from pre-2010 as they handled the impacts of 'light polarisation from the interaction of light with man-made objects', and the distinction between 'ecological light pollution and astronomical light pollution' which were topics not explicitly covered in the main search. One thesis was added to the spreadsheet which deals specifically with

nocturnal roost trees and roost sites of Carnaby's Black Cockatoo on the Swan Coastal Plain (Le Roux 2017).

Relevant pdfs were downloaded and collated. This pdf resource and the Excel spreadsheet are provided with this report and are linked by a reference number; column 'E.ID' in the spreadsheet.

# **Results and Discussion**

The number of published peer reviewed papers on impacts of artificial light on animal and human populations increased dramatically between 2018 and 2021 (Fig. 2a). Proportionally the number of studies addressing the impact on bird populations make up half of all studies (Fig 2b) and if combined with bat and insect species covers 63% of all studies. The number of studies in Australia was low (4%) compared to the European Union or the Americas.

60% of studies were in either terrestrial or more specifically urban landscapes. A small percentage of studies (8%) conducted in agricultural or coastal landscapes were retained as they covered topics such as industrial light spill. Generally, all studies related to light pollution or ALAN and a small number addressed the role of light in foraging efficiency or predation risk.

While 11% of all studies were inconclusive regarding impact and 6% reported positive impacts in species relying on visual foraging strategies, 80% of studies reported negative consequences for wildlife and are summarised below.

**Ground Mammals** – Exposure to increased night illumination, whether from full moon events or with low (0.8 lux LED, 7250 K) to high (LED 300 - 760 lux) ALAN increased predation risk for most mammals and so decreased activity in night foraging species (Hoffmann 2018, Prugh 2014, Shier 2020). This to some extent can be mitigated by retaining sufficient habitat cover (Prugh 2014).

**Insects** – Among insect species there were noted changes to foraging activity and mobility. In most cases lights, even at low lux levels (15 lux) effected behaviour and in most cases, lights acted as ecological traps leading to changes in species assemblages in some studies (Eccard 2018) and increased mortality due to an increase in the number of predators



Fig. 2 a) The dramatic increase in peer-reviewed papers in this study between 2018 and 2021 addressing the role and impact of artificial light on wildlife including people. The count was until April 2022. The true count for 2022 will likely be much higher based on the trends in the preceding years; b) Although there was a good representation of papers across taxa, birds made up 50% of all papers; c) Australia produced relatively few papers (4%) on the impact of artificial light on wildlife populations during this time period.

attracted (Davies 2012), as well as changes to development and other life history traits in moths (Van Geffen 2014). Light colour temperatures were important and low lux level (e.g. 0.4 – 8 lux) 'white' LED lights with a colour temperature of 7250 K had equivalent effects to higher lux levels. It was noted that ground-dwelling and airborne assemblages respond to the presence, intensity and spectrum of ALAN in different ways (Lockett 2021), irrespective of this common mitigation recommendations included: directing artificial light to the target area only (Schroer 2021), different coloured lights (lower temperature) should be considered where practicable, short 'on' times or automated switch-offs should be used (Eccard 2018, Lockett 2021), however, Lockett (2021) cautioned that reducing light temperatures to 4000 K would do little to ameliorate the impact of ALAN on invertebrate assemblages. Van Geffen

(2014) who experimented with white, green and red light suggest that red light may mitigate negative effects on at least moth species.

**Bats** – Activity changes were induced in bats even at low light levels (3.2 lux) resulting in changed foraging strategies (Stone 2012). In a captive population foraging reduced and, in some cases, ceased (Lewanzik 2014). Appropriate mitigation measures included limiting the use of artificial light in space, time and intensity and planning for the incorporation of 'darkness corridors' to encourage normal movement and retain landscape connectivity (Lewanzik 2014).

**Birds** – Among insectivorous species it was found that increased prey availability under green and white artificial light at night actually benefitted birds by reducing overall foraging effort (Welbers 2017), and low light levels of between 1.6 - 7 lux were inconclusive but in these studies sample sizes were low or the study species were migratory (e.g. La Sorte et al. 2022, Sanchez-Gonzalez 2021). Of the remaining 26 studies, most of which investigated LED lighting specifically rather than fluorescent or ALAN generally, reported negative impacts. These related to activity changes such as delayed sleep onset and more nocturnal awakenings (Ren 2021), increased vigilance (Yorzinski 2015) and increased night vocalisation (Dickerson 2022), and fitness costs such as increased energy expenditure or immunocompromisation (Dominoni 2021, van Dis 2021, Ziegler 2021). At the extreme end of impacts, some species abandoned nests and among migratory species, birds could be disoriented (Van Doren 2017), suffer delayed onset of migration movement with survival consequences at the arrival point, and increased mortality risk (Assadi 2021, Loss 2019). Notably these impacts were reported at light levels between 0.3 - 25 lux. Suggested mitigation was similar to measures mentioned above for bats, however, much greater emphasis was placed on light temperature with most studies suggesting lighting in the orange or red spectrum at temperatures of  $\leq$  3000 K (e.g. Alaasam 2018). One study suggested that simply pointing lights 'downwards' was not enough to eliminate attraction and flight path modification in migrating species (Cabrera-Cruz 2021).

#### Black cockatoos at Harold Rossiter Park and Kensington Bushland

Both Carnaby's cockatoos and forest red-tailed black cockatoos are known to use Harold Rossiter Park and/or Kensington Bushland. The bushland is mostly banksia woodland and is a valuable foraging resource for Carnaby's cockatoos.

Birdlife Australia Great Cocky Count (GCC) data have been collected at two sites (VICKENRO01 and VICKENRO02) that border the park and bushland consistently since 2010 for Carnaby's cockatoos and since 2014 for forest red-tailed black cockatoos (FRTBC). Based on these data the area has had significantly greater FRTBC activity, and between 2014 – 2021 an average of 80 (range 0 - 287) birds were counted at the two roosts (Pers. Comm. Birdlife Western Australia May 2022). By comparison since 2010 only two Carnaby's cockatoos have been counted at VICKENRO01 emphasising that the site is an important forage rather than roost site for Carnaby's. In the 2022 GCC (3/4/2022) only 16 FRTBC were counted at VICKENRO01, however FRTBC numbers were lower than usual across all Swan Coastal Plain GCC sites (Pers. Comm. Birdlife Western Australia May 2022). The GCC only occurs on one night a year (e.g. this year, 2022, it was the 3<sup>rd</sup> April) and so will not capture seasonal differences in the presence or abundance of either species.

Data from the <u>Black Cockatoo Conservation Management Project</u> at Murdoch University report having counted approximately 120 FRTBC roosting at Harold Rossiter Park in July 2016, however an October 2018 count by Birdlife Western Australia recorded a zero count. This suggested seasonality is also reported by Shephard and Warren (2019) who using GPS tags to track flocks of FRTBC on the Swan Coastal Plain, captured the movement of tagged birds from the Kensington area to the Darling Scarp during long distance spring movements between September to November. At the 2016 count and subsequent flock follows to the area by members of the Black Cockatoo Conservation Management Project, most FRTBC were roosting in tall trees surrounding the cricket oval and to a lesser extent in the trees surrounding the soccer fields. Given the size of the trees fringing the playing fields it is likely that the birds will roost in all these trees at different times. Of 10 key night roosts for FRTBC identified using GPS track data on the Swan Coastal Plain by Shephard and Warren (2019) roost trees were dominated by marri (Corymbia calophylla) and other tall species such as jarrah (Eucalyptus marginata) and spotted gum (Corymbia maculata). In all cases trees were mature and ranged in height from 10 - 20m and were located in urban or peri-urban areas. While few Carnaby's cockatoos were counted at the Harold Rossiter site during the GCC

nights, the size of the trees at the park are consistent with the findings of Le Roux (2017) who measured roost tree characteristics from 95 trees at 10 known Carnaby's cockatoo roost sites on the Swan Coastal Plain. With the exception of two pine trees (*Pinus pinaster*) all other trees were either West Australian or Australian natives with a mean height of 26m and DBH of 0.98m. In the Le Roux (2017) study nearly 38% of all trees were in parklands in close proximity to urban lighting including both street and sports ground lighting. The Kensington bushland being predominantly *banksia* spp. does not present as typical night roost habitat for either species.

#### Generalised impact of ALAN on black cockatoo species

Without experimental studies measuring the impact of current and future lighting on black cockatoo species it is only possible to hypothesise generalised impacts based on prior studies from other bird species. With a projected lighting level of between 50 to 120 lux depending on whether the soccer field lighting upgrades are used for training or competition nights, many of the impacts listed above will be relevant to black cockatoo species. Neither species is known to breed at this site, and while there are records of both species breeding in artificial hollows at some sites on the Swan Coastal Plain, Carnaby's generally breed at sites throughout the wheatbelt and FRTBC in forested areas or in trees old enough to support suitable hollows (Johnstone and Kirkby 2010). Accordingly, impacts above relating to breeding or migration can probably be discounted. However, activity changes such as delayed sleep onset, increased nocturnal awakenings, increased vigilance, and increased night vocalisation might be expected (Dickerson 2022, Ren 2021, Yorzinski 2015). These will incur fitness costs due to increased energy expenditure but determining immunocompromisation or other stress related effects would require formal epidemiological studies.

#### Mitigation measures to retain roost quality

It is unclear if the additional lighting will reduce the quality of the roost, however, a structured monitoring program with surveys conducted across months including before and after the FRTBC spring ranging movement to the Darling Scarp might inform this. It would

be preferable to begin monitoring before installation of the new lights begins and continue it for one to two years, or longer if possible.

To achieve the parameters required for competition level lighting it seems unlikely that the lux level and colour temperature of the lights could be changed, however, perhaps this could be addressed with the community flood lights with lower lux levels or colour temperatures considered with lighting in the orange or red spectrum at temperatures of  $\leq$  3000 K as suggested by Alaasam (2018), given that public safety requirements are met.

Reducing light spill and directing lights to the target area appear to be a minimum but required mitigation in most studies, but it is not clear from the lighting specifications for this upgrade what the expected rate of decay of the light pollution is at various distances behind the light poles. The '2824 Harold Rossiter – lighting layout 100lux' document suggests the immediate decay rate behind the light poles is 75 lux which far exceeds most of the reported light levels in the reviewed studies and the ecologically relevant light threshold of 1.5 lux (Moaraf 2021). It would be useful to know the light decay level at 10m, 20m or 50m behind the poles and more specifically what will it be at known roost trees?

Finally, Raap (2018) caution against generalisation of the effects of ALAN as impacts can be species, sex and season dependant. Beyond the suggested mitigation measures listed here the actual impact will only be realised using a longitudinal monitoring programme.

## References

- Alaasam, V. J. D., R. Casagrande, S. Davies, S. Sidher, A. Seymoure, B. Shen, Y. T. Zhang, Y. Ouyang, J. Q. 2018. Light at night disrupts nocturnal rest and elevates glucocorticoids at cool color temperatures. Journal of Experimental Zoology Part a-Ecological and Integrative Physiology 329:465-472.
- Assadi, S. B. F., K. C. 2021. The Influence of Different Light Wavelengths of Anthropogenic Light at Night on Nestling Development and the Timing of Post-fledge Movements in a Migratory Songbird. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 9:10.
- Cabrera-Cruz, S. A. L., R. P. Gimpel, M. E. Gruber, J. G. Zenzal, T. J. Buler, J. J. 2021. Potential Effect of Low-Rise, Downcast Artificial Lights on Nocturnally Migrating Land Birds. Integrative and Comparative Biology 61:1216-1236.
- Davies, T. W. B., J. Gaston, K. J. 2012. Street lighting changes the composition of invertebrate communities. Biology Letters 8:764-767.

- Dickerson, A. L. H., M. L. Jones, T. M. 2022. The effect of natural and artificial light at night on nocturnal song in the diurnal willie wagtail. Science of the Total Environment **808**:11.
- Dominoni, D. M. T., D. Branston, C. J. Jakhar, A. Albalawi, B. F. A. Evans, N. P. 2021. Feather, But Not Plasma, Glucocorticoid Response to Artificial Light at Night Differs between Urban and Forest Blue Tit Nestlings. Integrative and Comparative Biology 61:1111-1121.
- Eccard, J. A. S., I. Franke, S. Hoffmann, J. 2018. Off-grid: solar powered LED illumination impacts epigeal arthropods. Insect Conservation and Diversity **11**:600-607.
- Hoffmann, J. P., R. Eccard, J. A. 2018. Long-term dim light during nighttime changes activity patterns and space use in experimental small mammal populations. Environmental Pollution 238:844-851.
- Johnstone, R. E., and T. Kirkby. 2010. Carnaby's Cockatoo (*Calyptorhynchus latirostris*), Baudin's Cockatoo (*Calyptorhynchus baudinii*) and the Forest Red-tailed Black Cockatoo (*Calyptorhynchus banksii naso*) on the Swan Coastal Plain (Lancelin– Dunsborough), Western Australia. Studies on distribution, status, breeding, food, movements and historical changes. Department of Planning, Western Australia.
- Kyba, C., A. Mohar, and T. Posch. 2017. How bright is moonlight. Astron. Geophys **58**:31-32.
- La Sorte, F. A., A. Johnston, A. D. Rodewald, D. Fink, A. Farnsworth, B. M. Van Doren, T. Auer, and M. Strimas-Mackey. 2022. The role of artificial light at night and road density in predicting the seasonal occurrence of nocturnally migrating birds. Diversity and Distributions 28:992-1009.
- Le Roux, C. 2017. Nocturnal roost tree, roost site and landscape characteristics of Carnaby's Black-Cockatoo (*Calyptorynchus latirostris*) on the Swan Coastal Plain. Masters Thesis. Edith Cowan University, Perth, Western Australia. https://ro.ecu.edu.au/theses/2017
- Lewanzik, D. V., Christian C. 2014. Artificial light puts ecosystem services of frugivorous bats at risk. Journal of Applied Ecology **51**:388-394.
- Lockett, M. T. J., T. M. Elgar, M. A. Gaston, K. J. Visser, M. E. Hopkins, G. R. 2021. Urban street lighting differentially affects community attributes of airborne and ground-dwelling invertebrate assemblages. Journal of Applied Ecology 58:2329-2339.
- Loss, S. R. L., S. Eckles, J. W. Anderson, A. W. Blair, R. B. Turner, R. J. 2019. Factors influencing bird-building collisions in the downtown area of a major North American city. Plos One 14.
- Moaraf, S. H., R. Okuliarova, M. Hefetz, A. Scharf, I. Zeman, M. Barnea, A. 2021. Evidence That Artificial Light at Night Induces Structure-Specific Changes in Brain Plasticity in a Diurnal Bird. Biomolecules **11**:17.
- Prugh, L. R. G., Christopher D. 2014. Does moonlight increase predation risk? Metaanalysis reveals divergent responses of nocturnal mammals to lunar cycles. Journal of Animal Ecology 83:504-514.
- Raap, T. P., R. Eens, M. 2018. Cavities shield birds from effects of artificial light at night on sleep. Journal of Experimental Zoology Part a-Ecological and Integrative Physiology 329:449-456.
- Ren, Z. F. C., Y. Q. Liu, F. B. Ma, X. L. Ma, J. X. Liu, G. 2021. Effects of artificial light with different wavelengths and irradiances on the sleep behaviors of Chestnut buntings (*Emberiza rutila*). Biological Rhythm Research:20.

- Sanchez-Gonzalez, K. A.-O., O. A. Rios-Chelen, A. A. 2021. Urbanization levels are associated with the start of the dawn chorus in vermilion flycatchers in Colombia. Ethology Ecology & Evolution **33**:377-393.
- Schroer, S. A., K. Moczek, N. Kalinkat, G. Jechow, A. Heller, S. Reinhard, J. Dehn, S. Wuthenow, C. I. Post-Stapelfeldt, M. van Grunsven, R. H. A. Vega, C. P. Schumacher, H. Kaanaa, L. Saathoff, B. Voelker, S. Hoelker, F. 2021. Towards Insect-Friendly Road Lighting-A Transdisciplinary Multi-Stakeholder Approach Involving Citizen Scientists. Insects 12:21.
- Shephard, J. M., and K. S. Warren. 2019. Conservation management of forest red-tailed black cockatoos associated with the Maddington-Kenwick Strategic Employment Area Precinct 3 (MKSEA P3) industrial development. Report for MKSEA Pty. Ltd., Western Australia.
- Shier, D. M. B., A. K. Wang, T. B. 2020. Effects of artificial light at night on the foraging behavior of an endangered nocturnal mammal. Environmental Pollution 263:9.
- Stone, E. L. J., Gareth Harris, Stephen. 2012. Conserving energy at a cost to biodiversity? Impacts of LED lighting on bats. Global Change Biology 18:2458-2465.
- van Dis, N. E. S., K. Visser, M. E. Dominoni, D. M. 2021. Color of Artificial Light at Night Affects Incubation Behavior in the Great Tit, Parus major. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 9:10.
- Van Doren, B. M. H., K. G. Dokter, A. M. Klinck, H. Elbin, S. B. Farnsworth, A. 2017. High-intensity urban light installation dramatically alters nocturnal bird migration. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 114:11175-11180.
- Van Geffen, K. G. v. G., Roy H. A. van Ruijven, Jasper Berendse, Frank Veenendaal, Elmar M. 2014. Artificial light at night causes diapause inhibition and sexspecific life history changes in a moth. Ecology and Evolution 4:2082-2089.
- Welbers, A. v. D., N. E. Kolvoort, A. M. Ouyang, J. Visser, M. E. Spoelstra, K. Dominoni, D. M. 2017. Artificial Light at Night Reduces Daily Energy Expenditure in Breeding Great Tits (Parus major)d. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 5:10.
- Yorzinski, J. L. C., S. Byerley, S. D. Coy, J. R. Aziz, A. Wolf, J. A. Gnerlich, A. C. 2015. Artificial light pollution increases nocturnal vigilance in peahens. Peerj 3:19.
- Ziegler, A. K. W., H. Hegemann, A. Meitern, R. Canoine, V. Nilsson, J. A. Isaksson, C. 2021. Exposure to artificial light at night alters innate immune response in wild great tit nestlings. Journal of Experimental Biology 224:10.

## Appendices

#### Appendix 1

Literature Review Spreadsheet - "ToVP\_LitReview\_SHEPHARD2022\_MacroEn.xlsx"

#### Appendix 2

All papers from the spreadsheet with suffix number matching Column 'E.ID'.

- 4572 Stone, E. L. J., Gareth Harris, Stephen. 2012. Conserving energy at a cost to biodiversity? Impacts of LED lighting on bats. Global Change Biology 18:2458-2465.
- **4971** Dwyer, R. G. B., Stuart Campbell, Hamish A. Bryant, David M. 2013. Shedding light on light: benefits of anthropogenic illumination to a nocturnally foraging shorebird. Journal of Animal Ecology **82**:478-485.
- 5002 Van Geffen, K. G. v. G., Roy H. A. van Ruijven, Jasper Berendse, Frank Veenendaal, Elmar M. 2014. Artificial light at night causes diapause inhibition and sex-specific life history changes in a moth. Ecology and Evolution 4:2082-2089.
- 5713 Prugh, L. R. G., Christopher D. 2014. Does moonlight increase predation risk? Meta-analysis reveals divergent responses of nocturnal mammals to lunar cycles. Journal of Animal Ecology 83:504-514.
- 5730 Lewanzik, D. V., Christian C. 2014. Artificial light puts ecosystem services of frugivorous bats at risk. Journal of Applied Ecology 51:388-394.
- **5734** Borchard, P. E., David J. 2014. Does artificial light influence the activity of vertebrates beneath rural buildings? Australian Journal of Zoology **61**:424-429.
- 7467 Zissis, G. 2020. Sustainable Lighting and Light Pollution: A Critical Issue for the Present Generation, a Challenge to the Future. Sustainability 12:4552.
- 7468 Tavares, P. I., Dmitrii Araújo, Luiz Pinho, Paulo Bhusal, Pramod. 2021a. Reviewing the Role of Outdoor Lighting in Achieving Sustainable Development Goals. Sustainability 13:12657.
- 7469 Rodrigo-Comino, J. S., Stephan Egner-Duppich, Christel Palm, Michele Seeger, Manuel Ries, Johannes B. 2019. Challenges and Opportunities Facing Light Pollution: Smart Light-Hub Interreg. Proceedings 30:63.
- 7470 Horváth, G. K., György Malik, Péter Robertson, Bruce. 2009. Polarized light pollution: a new kind of ecological photopollution. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 7:317-325.
- 7471 Longcore, T. R., Catherine. 2004. Ecological light pollution. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 2:191-198.
- 7472 La Sorte, F. A. A., M. F. J. Lepczyk, C. A. Horton, K. G. 2022. Assessing the combined threats of artificial light at night and air pollution for the world's nocturnally migrating birds. Global Ecology and Biogeography 10.1111/geb.13466:13.
- 7473 Vega, C. P. Z.-D., K. M. Schroer, S. Jechow, A. Holker, F. 2022. A Systematic Review for Establishing Relevant Environmental Parameters for Urban Lighting: Translating Research into Practice. Sustainability 14:46.
- 7474 Hoelker, F. B., J. Davies, T. W. Giavi, S. Jechow, A. Kalinkat, G. Longcore, T. Spoelstra, K. Tidau, S. Visser, M. E. Knop, E. 2021. 11 Pressing Research Questions on How Light Pollution Affects Biodiversity. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 9:13.
- 7475 Bobkowska, K. B., P. Szulwic, J. Zielinska-Dabkowska, K. M. 2021. Seven Different Lighting Conditions in Photogrammetric Studies of a 3D Urban Mock-Up. Energies 14:27.

- 7476 Schroer, S. A., K. Moczek, N. Kalinkat, G. Jechow, A. Heller, S. Reinhard, J. Dehn, S. Wuthenow, C. I. Post-Stapelfeldt, M. van Grunsven, R. H. A. Vega, C. P. Schumacher, H. Kaanaa, L. Saathoff, B. Voelker, S. Hoelker, F. 2021. Towards Insect-Friendly Road Lighting-A Transdisciplinary Multi-Stakeholder Approach Involving Citizen Scientists. Insects 12:21.
- 7477 Tavares, P. I., D. Araujo, L. Pinho, P. Bhusal, P. 2021b. Reviewing the Role of Outdoor Lighting in Achieving Sustainable Development Goals. Sustainability 13:28.
- 7478 Zielinska-Dabkowska, K. M. S., K. Bobkowska, K. 2021. An Impact Analysis of Artificial Light at Night (ALAN) on Bats. A Case Study of the Historic Monument and Natura 2000 Wisloujscie Fortress in Gdansk, Poland. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 18:48.
- 7479 Assadi, S. B. F., K. C. 2021. The Influence of Different Light Wavelengths of Anthropogenic Light at Night on Nestling Development and the Timing of Post-fledge Movements in a Migratory Songbird. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 9:10.
- 7480 van Dis, N. E. S., K. Visser, M. E. Dominoni, D. M. 2021. Color of Artificial Light at Night Affects Incubation Behavior in the Great Tit, Parus major. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 9:10.
- 7481 Syposz, M. P., O. Willis, J. Van Doren, B. M. Gillies, N. Fayet, A. L. Wood, M. J. Alejo, A. Guilford, T. 2021. Avoidance of different durations, colours and intensities of artificial light by adult seabirds. Scientific Reports 11:13.
- 7482 Moaraf, S. H., R. Okuliarova, M. Hefetz, A. Scharf, I. Zeman, M. Barnea, A. 2021. Evidence That Artificial Light at Night Induces Structure-Specific Changes in Brain Plasticity in a Diurnal Bird. Biomolecules 11:17.
- 7483 Ren, Z. F. C., Y. Q. Liu, F. B. Ma, X. L. Ma, J. X. Liu, G. 2021. Effects of artificial light with different wavelengths and irradiances on the sleep behaviors of Chestnut buntings (Emberiza rutila). Biological Rhythm Research 10.1080/09291016.2021.1958542:20.
- 7484 Lockett, M. T. J., T. M. Elgar, M. A. Gaston, K. J. Visser, M. E. Hopkins, G. R. 2021. Urban street lighting differentially affects community attributes of airborne and ground-dwelling invertebrate assemblages. Journal of Applied Ecology 58:2329-2339.
- 7485 Cabrera-Cruz, S. A. L., R. P. Gimpel, M. E. Gruber, J. G. Zenzal, T. J. Buler, J. J. 2021. Potential Effect of Low-Rise, Downcast Artificial Lights on Nocturnally Migrating Land Birds. Integrative and Comparative Biology 61:1216-1236.
- 7486 Gaston, K. J. A., S. Bennie, J. Cox, D. T. C. Phillips, B. B. de Miguel, A. S. Sanders, D. 2021. Pervasiveness of Biological Impacts of Artificial Light at Night. Integrative and Comparative Biology 61:1098-1110.
- 7487 Jagerbrand, A. K. B., C. A. 2021a. Ecological Impact of Artificial Light at Night: Effective Strategies and Measures to Deal with Protected Species and Habitats. Sustainability 13:24.
- 7488 Lindh, U. W. J., A. K. 2021. Perceived Lighting Uniformity on Pedestrian Roads: From an Architectural Perspective. Energies 14:20.
- 7489 Wilhelm, S. I. D., S. M. Corbett, E. P. Fitzsimmons, M. G. Ryan, P. C. Robertson, G. J. 2021. Effects of land-based light pollution on two species of burrow-nesting seabirds in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. Avian Conservation and Ecology 16:12.

- 7490 Injaian, A. S. U., J. J. Taff, C. C. Vitousek, M. N. 2021. Effects of Artificial Light at Night on Avian Provisioning, Corticosterone, and Reproductive Success. Integrative and Comparative Biology 61:1147-1159.
- 7491 Dominoni, D. M. T., D. Branston, C. J. Jakhar, A. Albalawi, B. F. A. Evans, N. P. 2021. Feather, But Not Plasma, Glucocorticoid Response to Artificial Light at Night Differs between Urban and Forest Blue Tit Nestlings. Integrative and Comparative Biology 61:1111-1121.
- 7492 Ziegler, A. K. W., H. Hegemann, A. Meitern, R. Canoine, V. Nilsson, J. A. Isaksson, C. 2021. Exposure to artificial light at night alters innate immune response in wild great tit nestlings. Journal of Experimental Biology 224:10.
- 7493 Cross, S. L. C., A. T. Tomlinson, S. Clark-Ioannou, S. M. Nevill, P. G. Bateman, P. W. 2021. Mitigation and management plans should consider all anthropogenic disturbances to fauna. Global Ecology and Conservation 26:11.
- 7494 Miner, K. A. H., M. Aspbury, A. S. Gabor, C. R. 2021. Artificial Light at Night Alters the Physiology and Behavior of Western Mosquitofish (Gambusia affinis). Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 9:12.
- 7495 Jagerbrand, A. K. 2021b. Development of an Indicator System for Local Governments to Plan and Evaluate Sustainable Outdoor Lighting. Sustainability 13:22.
- 7496 Sepp, T. W., E. Simpson, R. K. Giraudeau, M. McGraw, K. J. Hutton, P. 2021. Light at night reduces digestive efficiency of developing birds: an experiment with king quail. Science of Nature 108:10.
- 7497 Walbeek, T. J. H., E. M. Gorman, M. R. Glickman, G. L. 2021. Naturalistic Intensities of Light at Night: A Review of the Potent Effects of Very Dim Light on Circadian Responses and Considerations for Translational Research. Frontiers in Neurology 12:16.
- 7498 Massetti, L. 2020. Drivers of artificial light at night variability in urban, rural and remote areas. Journal of Quantitative Spectroscopy & Radiative Transfer 255:14.
- 7499 Becker, D. J. S., D. Pan, Q. Y. Montoure, J. D. Talbott, K. M. Wanamaker, S. M. Ketterson, E. D. 2020. Artificial light at night amplifies seasonal relapse of haemosporidian parasites in a widespread songbird. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 287:9.
- **7500** Shier, D. M. B., A. K. Wang, T. B. 2020. Effects of artificial light at night on the foraging behavior of an endangered nocturnal mammal. Environmental Pollution **263**:9.
- 7501 Fasciani, I. P., F. Aloisi, G. Marampon, F. Rossi, M. Coppolino, M. F. Rossi, R. Longoni, B. Scarselli, M. Maggio, R. 2020. A New Threat to Dopamine Neurons: The Downside of Artificial Light. Neuroscience 432:216-228.
- **7502** Grunst, M. L. R., T. Grunst, A. S. Pinxten, R. Parenteau, C. Angelier, F. Eens, M. 2020. Early-life exposure to artificial light at night elevates physiological stress in free-living songbirds. Environmental Pollution **259**:10.
- 7503 Dominoni, D. M. H., W. Baird, E. Buxton, R. T. Fernandez-Juricic, E. Fristrup, K. M. McKenna, M. F. Mennitt, D. J. Perkin, E. K. Seymoure, B. M. Stoner, D. C. Tennessen, J. B. Toth, C. A. Tyrrell, L. P. Wilson, A. Francis, C. D. Carter, N. H. Barber, J. R. 2020a. Why conservation biology can benefit from sensory ecology. Nature Ecology & Evolution 4:502-511.
- 7504 Schroer, S. H., B. J. Azam, C. Holker, F. 2020. Working with Inadequate Tools: Legislative Shortcomings in Protection against Ecological Effects of Artificial Light at Night. Sustainability 12:38.

- 7505 Injaian, A. S. F., C. D. Ouyang, J. Q. Dominoni, D. M. Donald, J. W. Fuxjager, M. J. Goymann, W. Hau, M. Husak, J. F. Johnson, M. A. Kircher, B. K. Knapp, R. Martin, L. B. Miller, E. T. Schoenle, L. Williams, T. Vitousek, A. N. 2020. Baseline and stress-induced corticosterone levels across birds and reptiles do not reflect urbanization levels. Conservation Physiology 8:18.
- 7506 Moaraf, S. V., Y. Pozner, T. Heiblum, R. Okuliarova, M. Zeman, M. Barnea, A. 2020. Artificial light at night affects brain plasticity and melatonin in birds. Neuroscience Letters 716:9.
- 7507 Soga, M. G., K. J. 2020. The ecology of human-nature interactions. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 287:10.
- **7508** Lao, S. R., B. A. Anderson, A. W. Blair, R. B. Eckles, J. W. Turner, R. J. Loss, S. R. 2020. The influence of artificial light at night and polarized light on bird-building collisions. Biological Conservation **241**:8.
- 7509 Owens, A. C. S. C., P. Durrant, J. Farnworth, B. Perkin, E. K. Seymoure, B. 2020. Light pollution is a driver of insect declines. Biological Conservation 241:9.
- 7510 Grubisic, M. H., A. Bhusal, P. Dominoni, D. M. Gabriel, K. M. A. Jechow, A. Kupprat, F. Lerner, A. Marchant, P. Riley, W. Stebelova, K. van Grunsven, R. H. A. Zeman, M. Zubidat, A. E. Holker, F. 2019. Light Pollution, Circadian Photoreception, and Melatonin in Vertebrates. Sustainability 11:51.
- 7511 Cabrera-Cruz, S. A. S., J. A. McCarthy, K. P. Buler, J. J. 2019. Urban areas affect flight altitudes of nocturnally migrating birds. Journal of Animal Ecology 88:1873-1887.
- 7512 Nankoo, S. R., S. Galvez-Cloutier, R. 2019. The impact of the Jacques Cartier bridge illumination on the food chain: from insects to predators. Community Ecology 20:172-180.
- 7513 Amichai, E. K.-S., N. 2019. Artificial Light at Night Promotes Activity Throughout the Night in Nesting Common Swifts (Apus apus). Scientific Reports 9:8.
- 7514 Saini, C. H., P. Gao, S. S. Simpson, R. K. Giraudeau, M. Sepp, T. Webb, E. McGraw, K. J. 2019. Exposure to artificial light at night increases innate immune activity during development in a precocial bird. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology 233:84-88.
- 7515 Zapata, M. J. S., S. M. P. Gray, S. M. 2019. Artificial Lighting at Night in EstuariesImplications from Individuals to Ecosystems. Estuaries and Coasts 42:309-330.
- 7516 Raap, T. T., B. Grunst, A. S. Grunst, M. L. Pinxten, R. Eens, M. 2018a. Personality and artificial light at night in a semi-urban songbird population: No evidence for personality-dependent sampling bias, avoidance or disruptive effects on sleep behaviour. Environmental Pollution 243:1317-1324.
- 7517 Alaasam, V. J. D., R. Casagrande, S. Davies, S. Sidher, A. Seymoure, B. Shen, Y. T. Zhang, Y. Ouyang, J. Q. 2018. Light at night disrupts nocturnal rest and elevates glucocorticoids at cool color temperatures. Journal of Experimental Zoology Part a-Ecological and Integrative Physiology 329:465-472.
- 7518 Koen, E. L. M., C. Roever, C. L. Boyles, J. G. 2018. Emerging threat of the 21st century lightscape to global biodiversity. Global Change Biology 24:2315-2324.

- 7519 Van Doren, B. M. H., K. G. Dokter, A. M. Klinck, H. Elbin, S. B. Farnsworth, A. 2017. High-intensity urban light installation dramatically alters nocturnal bird migration. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 114:11175-11180.
- 7520 Aronson, M. F. J. L., C. A. Evans, K. L. Goddard, M. A. Lerman, S. B. MacIvor, J. S. Nilon, C. H. Vargo, T. 2017. Biodiversity in the city: key challenges for urban green space management. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 15:189-196.
- **7521** Russ, A. R., S. Weissmann, A. Gottschalk, J. Einspanier, A. Klenke, R. 2015. Seasonal and urban effects on the endocrinology of a wild passerine. Ecology and Evolution **5**:5698-5710.
- 7522 Yorzinski, J. L. C., S. Byerley, S. D. Coy, J. R. Aziz, A. Wolf, J. A. Gnerlich, A. C. 2015. Artificial light pollution increases nocturnal vigilance in peahens. Peerj 3:19.
- 7523 Tabassum, A. P., M. Abbasi, T. Abbasi, S. A. 2014. Wind energy: Increasing deployment, rising environmental concerns. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 31:270-288.
- 7524 Dominoni, D. Q., M. Partecke, J. 2013. Artificial light at night advances avian reproductive physiology. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 280:8.
- 7525 Gaston, K. J. D., T. W. Bennie, J. Hopkins, J. 2012. REVIEW: Reducing the ecological consequences of night-time light pollution: options and developments. Journal of Applied Ecology 49:1256-1266.
- 7526 Davies, T. W. B., J. Gaston, K. J. 2012. Street lighting changes the composition of invertebrate communities. Biology Letters 8:764-767.
- 7527 Santos, C. D. M., A. C. Granadeiro, J. P. Lourenco, P. M. Saraiva, S. Palmeirim, J. M. 2010. Effects of artificial illumination on the nocturnal foraging of waders. Acta Oecologica-International Journal of Ecology 36:166-172.
- 7528 Welbers, A. v. D., N. E. Kolvoort, A. M. Ouyang, J. Visser, M. E. Spoelstra, K. Dominoni, D. M. 2017. Artificial Light at Night Reduces Daily Energy Expenditure in Breeding Great Tits (Parus major)d. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 5:10.
- 7529 Dominoni, D. M. J., J. K. de Jong, M. Visser, M. E. Spoelstra, K. 2020b. Artificial light at night, in interaction with spring temperature, modulates timing of reproduction in a passerine bird. Ecological Applications 30:11.
- 7530 Pugh, A. R. P., S. M. 2016. Artificial light at night potentially alters feeding behaviour of the native southern black-backed gull (Larus dominicanus). Notornis 63:37-39.
- 7531 Raap, T. P., R. Eens, M. 2018b. Cavities shield birds from effects of artificial light at night on sleep. Journal of Experimental Zoology Part a-Ecological and Integrative Physiology 329:449-456.
- 7532 McNaughton, E. J. B., J. R. Gaston, K. J. Jones, D. N. Stanley, M. C. 2021. Retrofitting streetlights with LEDs has limited impacts on urban wildlife. Biological Conservation 254:13.
- **7533** Almpanidou, V. T., V. Tsavdaridou, A. I. Mazaris, A. D. 2020. The dark side of raptors' distribution ranges under climate change. Landscape Ecology **35**:1435-1443.

- 7534 Smith, R. A. G., M. Fraser, K. C. 2021. Pre-migration artificial light at night advances the spring migration timing of a trans-hemispheric migratory songbird. Environmental Pollution 269:8.
- 7536 Falcon, J. T., A. Attia, D. Vienot, F. Gronfier, C. Behar-Cohen, F. Martinsons, C. Hicks, D. 2020. Exposure to Artificial Light at Night and the Consequences for Flora, Fauna, and Ecosystems. Frontiers in Neuroscience 14:39.
- **7539** Sanchez-Gonzalez, K. A.-O., O. A. Rios-Chelen, A. A. 2021. Urbanization levels are associated with the start of the dawn chorus in vermilion flycatchers in Colombia. Ethology Ecology & Evolution **33**:377-393.
- 7540 Bassi, A. L., O. P. Cooke, S. J. Warriner, T. R. Harris, C. M. Madliger, C. L. Effects of artificial light at night on fishes: A synthesis with future research priorities. Fish and Fisheries 10.1111/faf.12638:17.
- 7541 Dominoni, D. S., J. A. H. Visser, M. E. Halfwerk, W. 2020c. Multisensory pollution: Artificial light at night and anthropogenic noise have interactive effects on activity patterns of great tits (Parus major). Environmental Pollution 256:9.
- 7542 Murata, N. F., A. 2015. A case study of evidence for showing "no net loss' of bird biodiversity in a development project. Water and Environment Journal 29:419-429.
- 7543 Borghesi, F. D., E. Migani, F. Bechet, A. Rendon-Martos, M. Amat, J. A. Sommer, S. Gillingham, M. A. F. 2017. Assessing environmental pollution in birds: a new methodological approach for interpreting bioaccumulation of trace elements in feather shafts using geochemical sediment data. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 8:96-108.
- 7544 Rayner, M. J. G., C. P. Fitzgerald, N. B. Baird, K. A. Berg, M. M. Boyle, D. Joyce, L. Landers, T. J. Loh, G. G. Maturin, S. Perrimen, L. Scofield, R. P. Simm, J. Southey, I. Taylor, G. A. Tennyson, A. J. D. Robertson, B. C. Young, M. Walle, R. Ismar, S. M. H. 2015. Using miniaturized radiotelemetry to discover the breeding grounds of the endangered New Zealand Storm Petrel Fregetta maoriana. Ibis 157:754-766.
- 7545 Willems, J. S. P., J. N. Francis, C. D. 2022. Artificial light at night and anthropogenic noise alter the foraging activity and structure of vertebrate communities. Science of the Total Environment **805**:11.
- 7546 Hoffmann, J. H., F. Eccard, J. A. 2022. Welcome to the Dark Side: Partial Nighttime Illumination Affects Night-and Daytime Foraging Behavior of a Small Mammal. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 9:11.
- 7547 van Hasselt, S. J. H., R. A. Allocca, G. Vyssotski, A. L. Piersma, T. Rattenborg, N. C. Meerlo, P. 2021. Cloud cover amplifies the sleep-suppressing effect of artificial light at night in geese. Environmental Pollution 273:7.
- 7549 Deora, T. A., M. A. Brunton, B. W. Daniel, T. L. 2021. Learning to feed in the dark: how light level influences feeding in the hawkmoth Manduca sexta. Biology Letters 17:6.
- 7550 Dickerson, A. L. H., M. L. Jones, T. M. 2022. The effect of natural and artificial light at night on nocturnal song in the diurnal willie wagtail. Science of the Total Environment 808:11.
- 7551 Hoffmann, J. P., R. Eccard, J. A. 2018. Long-term dim light during nighttime changes activity patterns and space use in experimental small mammal populations. Environmental Pollution 238:844-851.

- 7552 Eccard, J. A. S., I. Franke, S. Hoffmann, J. 2018. Off-grid: solar powered LED illumination impacts epigeal arthropods. Insect Conservation and Diversity 11:600-607.
- 7553 Ahn, Y. N. K., K. D. Anoop, G. Kim, G. S. Yoo, J. S. 2019. Design of highly efficient phosphor-converted white light-emitting diodes with color rendering indices (R-1 R-15) >= 95 for artificial lighting. Scientific Reports 9:10.
- 7554 Sun, W. S. T., C. L. Tsuei, C. H. Pan, J. W. 2014. Simulation and comparison of the illuminance, uniformity, and efficiency of different forms of lighting used in basketball court illumination. Applied Optics 53:H186-H194.
- 7555 Tang, Y. R. Z., D. Yi, X. Z. Chen, J. Tian, Y. N. Zhou, S. M. 2021. Current and Temperature Effects on Luminescence Properties of Blue and White LEDs. Chinese Journal of Lasers-Zhongguo Jiguang 48:7.
- 7558 Loss, S. R. L., S. Eckles, J. W. Anderson, A. W. Blair, R. B. Turner, R. J. 2019. Factors influencing bird-building collisions in the downtown area of a major North American city. Plos One 14.
- **7563** La Sorte, F. A., A. Johnston, A. D. Rodewald, D. Fink, A. Farnsworth, B. M. Van Doren, T. Auer, and M. Strimas-Mackey. 2022. The role of artificial light at night and road density in predicting the seasonal occurrence of nocturnally migrating birds. Diversity and Distributions **28**:992-1009.
- 7571 Le Roux, C. 2017. Nocturnal roost tree, roost site and landscape characteristics of Carnaby's Black-Cockatoo (*Calyptorynchus latirostris*) on the Swan Coastal Plain. Masters Thesis. Edith Cowan University, Perth, Western Australia. https://ro.ecu.edu.au/theses/2017
- **7572** Jaggard, A. K., N. Smith, F. R. Torpy, and U. Munro. 2015. Rules of the roost: characteristics of nocturnal communal roosts of rainbow lorikeets (Trichoglossus haematodus, Psittacidae) in an urban environment. Urban Ecosystems **18**:489-502.
- 7573 Kyba, C., A. Mohar, and T. Posch. 2017. How bright is moonlight. Astron. Geophys 58:31-32.

#### Appendix 3

Zip file of all pdfs.